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PRELUDE Blaming Major Anderson March 4, 1861


Major Robert Anderson stood on the top of one of the walls at Fort Sumter, the unfinished federal military installation in Charleston Harbor, on the morning of March 4, 1861, and adjusted his spyglass. Once in focus, he found the moving figure of General P. G. T. Beauregard, his old student and close friend at West Point (Beauregard graduated second in his class in 1838), directing hundreds of Confederate troops. They were hauling heavy black cannons over roadways and winding dirt paths that cut through groves of palmetto trees to sites on the two islands across the harbor on either side of the island on which Sumter sat. Every day there were more troops. The dashing, well-dressed, handsome General Beauregard, with his neatly trimmed moustache and elegant goatee, the scion of a wealthy New Orleans French Creole family, had made a good impression on Charlestonians as soon as he had arrived in the city earlier that week. Beauregard had seen action in the Mexican War, serving as an engineer, and was a former superintendent of West Point. He was a colorful figure and adored by Charlestonians. “He is the hero of the hour,” gushed one woman.

Beauregard commanded six thousand busy Confederate and South Carolina state soldiers, and more of all shapes and sizes walked into his camp each day from all over the South. Anderson, from his elevated perch over the calm blue waters of the harbor, watched Beauregard’s every movement as he prepared his army for a possible bombardment of Fort Sumter. The Union major and his rival believed they soon might face off in the very first battle of the Civil War.

The road to Fort Sumter began with the election of Republican Abraham Lincoln as the nation’s sixteenth president in November 1860. Southerners were certain that Lincoln, who took office with a Republican-controlled Senate and House of Representatives, would eradicate slavery, and wanted no part of him and his government. South Carolina seceded from the Union on December 20, 1860, and six more states soon followed. South Carolina demanded that the federal government turn over Fort Sumter. Negotiations to do so had failed with President James Buchanan and had started anew with Lincoln, who took office nine weeks after South Carolina seceded. The South threatened to take the fort by force and had begun to surround it with troops from the new Confederate government’s hastily formed army. In Washington, D.C., Lincoln and his Cabinet would soon debate what to do about the fort. Tensions grew.

Unlike the flamboyant Beauregard, Anderson was conservative. He was a by-the-book officer and did little without guidance from Washington. He was highly conflicted, too, because he was from Kentucky, a slave state, and believed in slavery, and was here at Fort Sumter supporting a new anti-slavery president’s army. Torn between North and South, Anderson, father of five (and great-grandfather of actor Montgomery Clift), admitted “that my heart was never in this war.” He brought his spyglass down to his waist but kept staring. He knew from the number and size of the cannons, including a substantial number of large, powerful Columbiads nestled into thick green groves of palmetto trees, that the fort could be taken in a day or two of heavy bombardment. He scoffed at Northern newspaper reports that said it would take six months to level the fort (the New York Herald even called Sumter “the strongest fort of its size in the world”). Anderson shivered in the chilly early morning March air.

On the day Abraham Lincoln was sworn in as president, Fort Sumter was an unfinished, odd-looking facility occupied by eighty-four officers and enlisted men, nineteen of them musicians, under Major Anderson. Ironically, one of the Unions lieutenants was Jefferson Davis—no relation to the new Confederate president. The men had fled Fort Moultrie, across the harbor from Sumter, undetected, on the night of December 26, 1860, six days after South Carolina seceded. Anderson thought the unfinished Sumter offered better protection for his garrison than Moultrie.

Sumter was a pentagonal facility that sat on a flat artificial island two and a half acres in size. It had been under construction since 1829. It had room for 135 cannons, but so far only forty-eight had been installed, and twenty-five of them were not pointed at the Confederates, but at Fort Moultrie. Anderson went to Sumter because of its guns and because its twelve-foot-thick red brick walls were an impressive sixty feet high. It was well out into the water and could be reached by any Union supply or troop ship arriving from the Atlantic Ocean.

Anderson had taken down his flag from the flagpole at Fort Moultrie and carried it with him to Sumter. Early the following morning, when the men were safely settled, he raised it to the top of a flagpole there. When Charlestonians awoke that morning and saw it, they were stunned.

The men, who were running out of supplies, worked at Sumter as the Confederate Army went about its business on shore. The Confederate general was under orders to prevent any Union reinforcements from arriving by sea and, if necessary, to bombard the fort. Every day his men stockpiled more and more cannonballs; they had hundreds already.

One of the Confederate officers preparing to fire on the fort, if need be, was Colonel Chanson, who helped to build Sumter. He told friends he was now worried that he had done too good a job and that the South would be unable to take the fort. A man who had toured Sumter before Anderson occupied it, Edward Ruffin, told friends that “it would be extremely difficult to be taken.”

The Union soldiers who were stationed there in the winter of 1860–1861 remembered living conditions in the fort as very unpleasant. In addition to the lack of food, there was no mail, no lights, no real mess hall, the nights were windy, and the temperatures varied. “The fort… was a deep, dark, damp gloomy looking place, where sunlight rarely penetrated,” said Captain Abner Doubleday, Anderson’s second-in-command.

Inside the walls of Fort Sumter on that brisk March morning, Major Anderson found himself in a precarious situation. He had been forbidden to fire on the Confederate troops for any reason, and also to just give up if Confederate forces fired on him. “It is neither expected or desired that you should expose your own life, or that of your men in a hopeless conflict in defense of these forts…. It will be your duty to yield to necessity,” wrote former Secretary of War John Floyd. That communiqué was one of the few anyone in Washington sent Anderson, and he had taken it upon himself to move to Sumter—something he did not want to do—in preparation for a possible attack.

Anderson started to mount more cannon, raising them to the tops of the walls with block and tackle and a derrick. The men bricked up open cannon embrasures that would not be used to hold guns, as well as all the windows in the brick walls. The fort had few cartridge bags, so the men’s flannel shirts and socks were used for that purpose. The fort’s main gate was repaired and buttressed with large sheets of black iron. A three-foot-thick wall was built in front of it. Sharpshooters in their blue uniforms were stationed atop the walls. To improve the defenses, Captain Doubleday cleverly strung together huge dry goods boxes at the top of the walls that stretched for a hundred yards.

The large Columbiad cannons presented the greatest problem because of their excessive weight. To lift them up to the third level of the fort, Anderson had their carriages cut away and used for blocks in the rather creaky block and tackle lifting process. Dozens of men hoisted two cannons up to the third level, where they were rolled into firing position to loud cheers from the troops. Each night after dinner, the troops took turns picking up and carrying the huge, heavy cannonballs to the third tier, step by slow step up the stairs, under the moonlight.

A trench was built outside the fort and several cannons were placed there, aimed at the Confederate artillery clusters. Anderson had several mines buried under the wharf—any soldiers who might charge over the roadway to attack would trigger an enormous explosion. More mines were placed under pyramids of stone on the esplanade, a promenade that was built outside Sumter’s walls. Howitzers were then placed on each end of the esplanade so any invaders running on it could be fired upon. Ammunition was moved much closer to the guns for immediate use. Finally, there were the homemade hand grenades. Anderson had his men take all the shells they could find, no matter what their size, stuff them with gunpowder, and attach handles to them. In an attack, the men would then attach ropes to the handles and hurl the grenades at the enemy. He had no mortars so he strung four large Columbiad cannons together as a substitute. He filled one cannon with paving stones and prepared to blow it up, firing the stones all over the grounds to kill any invaders. A traverse was constructed in front of the south gate to block shells, and several rooms were converted into a hospital to care for the wounded in case of an attack.

Anderson used well the eighty-four men he had, and continually sent letters—unanswered—to the War Department suggesting they send him 10,000 to 20,000 troops to battle the enemy and defend Sumter properly.

The major was careful to avoid any dangerous or provocative situations. That had happened in mid-January when a United States Army supply ship, the Star of the West, had sailed into the harbor. There was a mix-up in signals. The Confederates fired on her, and Anderson, ever the cautious commander, did not fire back. The ship was forced to sail out of the harbor and disappeared. He did not want another questionable encounter like that one. As a result, one of the problems Anderson had at the fort was a very limited amount of food that he would have to ration if supplies did not arrive soon.

On shore, General Beauregard was keeping an eye on Major Anderson, his former professor at West Point, for whom he had great respect. Beauregard wrote of the Sumter commander, “In my opinion, a most gallant officer, incapable of any act that might tarnish his reputation as a soldier.”

The Sumter drama was watched carefully from downtown Charleston, four miles away, by Mary Chestnut, the wife of former United States Senator James Chestnut, who resigned that post when South Carolina seceded. Chestnut had held numerous public offices in the state, and from 1858 until 1860 served as its senator. His father was one of the wealthiest men in America. He owned several plantations and 448 slaves. Chestnut Sr. did not permit James to run any of his businesses and never gave him or loaned him any money. Chestnut Jr. scraped by on a law office salary. His father lived to be ninety, long after the end of the war, and when hostilities ceased in 1865, James and Mary found themselves practically penniless.

She kept a thick, detailed diary filled with scenes that she described with great color and tension. She had mixed emotions whenever she peered out across the harbor to Sumter from her Charleston rooftop. She wrote of South Carolina’s secession, “I felt a nervous dread and horror of this break with so great a power as the United States but I was ready and willing.”

She was not alone. All Charlestonians talked about in the winter and spring of 1861 was if and when the Yankees would clear out of Sumter and very gracefully go home. The residents of the city wanted the Union soldiers, their horses, their luggage, their bugles, and, most of all, their damned flag, out of their city and out of the South.

They wondered—all of America wondered—if the dispute over Fort Sumter would end up in a battle and whether that fierce, fiery confrontation would set off a Civil War.






ONE Washington, D.C., The White House March 5, 1861


Shortly after 9 A.M., the newly sworn in President Abraham Lincoln arrived at his second-floor office in the White House to find Joseph Holt, the holdover Secretary of War from James Buchanan’s administration, waiting. Holt looked nervous. He told Lincoln that Major Robert Anderson, the commandant at Fort Sumter, had just sent a dispatch saying he had only six weeks of food and supplies left and feared the worst from Confederate troops who now surrounded the fort on two nearby peninsulas. Anderson also told Holt he would need an army of 20,000 soldiers to hold the fort.

The first thing the new president did was get in touch with General Winfield Scott, the Commander of the United States Army—a huge, six-foot-five, portly man with stringy, curly white hair, the father of seven children—to see what he thought about this supply dilemma at Fort Sumter. Lincoln knew so little about Sumter that he constantly misspelled and mispronounced it, as he did in this letter to General Scott.

Abraham Lincoln

To what point of time can Major Anderson maintain his position at Fort Sumpter without supplies or reinforcements? Can you, now with all the means in your control, supply or reinforce Fort Sumpter within that time?

If not, what amount of means and of what description in addition to that already within your control, would enable you to supply and re-enforce the fortress within that time?

He did not receive a clear answer from General Scott.



General Winfield Scott, Commander of the United States Army

Major Anderson has hard bread, flour and rice for about… 26 days… and salt meat for about 48… how long he could hold out cannot be answered with absolute accuracy.

Then Scott wrote another note to the president.



General Winfield Scott

I now see no alternative but a surrender… as… we cannot send the third of the men in several months necessary to give them relief. Evacuation seems almost inevitable… the worn out garrison [might] be assaulted & carried in the present week….

As a practical military question, the time for succoring Sumter with any means at hand had passed away nearly a month ago. Since then, a surrender under assault or from starvation has been merely a question of time.

General Scott was seventy-four, sometimes fell asleep at meetings, and was a man whose prodigious dining was a source of great humor in Washington, D.C. Scott was having dinner at Wormsley’s Hotel, a five-story hotel in Washington, as the Fort Sumter crisis started. The proprietor described Scott to a friend.



James Wormsley

The General looks worried in his mind. He doesn’t talk as usual, but he eats, does the General. He eats powerful!

Four days later, on March 9, Lincoln summoned his Cabinet to his office in the White House to address the Fort Sumter crisis. Each of them, in one way or another, had been promised their Cabinet positions in exchange for their support of Lincoln at the 1860 Republican Convention in Chicago. The brand new president wanted their opinions on the Sumter issue before making up his mind on what to do. He went around the table, soliciting the view of each Cabinet member.

This was their second meeting on the Fort Sumter crisis. On March 6, they all met with General Winfield Scott, head of the Army, who had given them very secret and distressing news.



Gideon Welles, Secretary of the Navy

[Scott] told us he had taken the responsibility to order a small military force to Washington for the protection of the government and the public property and archives and that other troops were on their way from the West.

He [described the] perilous condition of the country, and of the difficulties and embarrassments he had experienced for months past, related the measures and precautions he had taken for the public safety, the advice and admonitions he had given President Buchanan, which, however, had been disregarded, and, finally, the apprehensions, perhaps convictions, that hostilities were imminent, and, he feared, inevitable. His statement was full, clear in its details, and of absorbing interest to those of us who were to meet and provide for the conflict now at hand.

Scott told the Cabinet members about Anderson’s food and supplies shortage.



Gideon Welles

It became a question of what action should be taken and for that purpose, as well as to advise us of the condition of affairs he had convened the gentlemen present. The information was to most of us unexpected and there was on the part of such of us who had no intimation of the condition of things in Sumter, an earnest determination to take immediate and efficient measures to relieve and reinforce the garrison. But General Scott without opposing this resolution, related the difficulties which had already taken place and stated the formidable obstacles which were to be encountered….

Any attempt to reinforce or relieve the garrison by sea, Welles opposed as impracticable. (There was a naval officer, Commander West, willing to try it, though.)



Gideon Welles

Many of the naval officers then in Washington and about the Naval Department, were of questionable fidelity. A number had already resigned and most of those who were tainted [by secession] had left the service.

A land attack with Anderson’s requested 20,000 men was deemed impracticable by Scott, too. Mr. Seward, who made many suggestions or inquiries, had doubts and was evidently wholly opposed to any attempt at relief. The President, until decisive steps were finally taken, was averse to offensive measures and anxious to avoid them.

Lincoln listened long and hard to the opinions of all.



Gideon Welles

[President Lincoln] was satisfied that it was impossible to relieve and reinforce the garrison, the attempt would provoke immediate hostilities.

The President, though much distressed with the conclusions of the military officers, and the decisive concurrence of the Secretary of State in this conclusion, appeared to acquiesce in what seemed to be a military necessity but was not disposed to yield until the last moment, and when there was no hope of accomplishing the work if attempted.



Edward Bates, US Attorney General

I was astonished to be informed that Fort Sumter, in Charleston harbor, may be evacuated, that General Scott, General Totten and Major Anderson concur in the opinion that as the place has but 28 days provisions, it must be relieved, if at all, in that time, and that it will take a force of 20,000 men at least, and a bloody battle, to relieve it. For several days after this, consultations were held as to the feasibility of relieving Fort Sumter, at which were present, explaining and aiding, General Scott, General Totten, Commodore Stringham and Mr. G. V. Fox, who seems to be au fait in all matters in both nautical and military. The army officers and navy officers differ widely about the degree of danger to rapid moving vessels passing under the fire of land batteries. The army officers think destruction almost inevitable where the navy officers think the danger but slight. The one believes that Sumter cannot be relieved, even provisioned, without an army of 20,000 men and a bloody battle. The other (navy) believes that with light, rapid vessels they can cross the bar at a high tide of a dark night, run the enemy’s forts and reach Sumter with little risk.



Gideon Welles

General Scott related the difficulties which had already taken place and stated the formidable objects which were to be encountered from the numerous and well-manned batteries that were erected in Charleston Harbor.

Some would later disagree with the military advice they received, but at the time, the Cabinet saw it as the only information they had.



Gideon Welles

It was a duty to defer to these military gentlemen whose profession and study made them experts, who had by long and faithful service justly acquired the positions they held, and who possessed the confidence of the country. [Lincoln was satisfied that] it was impossible to relieve and re-enforce the garrison. The attempt would provoke immediate hostilities and, if hostilities could not be avoided, he deemed it important that the Administration should not strike the first blow.



William Seward, Secretary of State

Assuming it to be possible to now provision Fort Sumter, under all the circumstances, is it wise to attempt it? It would be both unwise and inhuman not to attempt it. But the facts of the case are known to be that the attempt must be made with the employment of military and marine which would provoke combat and possibly initiate a civil war.

Seward reminded the Cabinet that history had shown that there is no one best policy that governs all circumstances—and that he had been telling Congress this for more than a decade.



William Seward

I learned early from Jefferson that in political affairs we cannot always do what seems to be absolutely best…. It seems to me that we will have inaugurated a Civil War by our own act, without an adequate object after which reunion will be hopeless.

When confronted by angry Southerners, Lincoln had backed off, telling them what they wanted to hear. Around this time Seward and Lincoln were trying to get the Virginia Secession Convention to abandon their idea of following South Carolina. Seward had a newspaper friend assure the convention chairman, George Summers, that if they stayed in the Union, Lincoln would agree to evacuate Fort Sumter.

Lincoln had a private meeting with several delegates from the Virginia Secession Convention while it was in session in late February. Its spokesperson, William Rives, told him bluntly that if he used force in any capacity at Fort Sumter, Virginia would secede from the Union, too.



Abraham Lincoln, walking directly in front of Rives

Mr. Rives! Mr. Rives! If Virginia will stay in, I will withdraw the troops from Fort Sumter.

After he left, Lincoln met with his secretary, John Hay, and told him what they had discussed.



John Hay, Lincoln’s secretary

He promised to evacuate Sumter if they would break up their convention, without any row or nonsense. They demurred. Subsequently, he renewed the proposition to Summers, but without any result. The President was most anxious to avoid bloodshed.



Abraham Lincoln

A state for a fort is no bad business.

Lincoln had been courting Virginia since before his inauguration, with mixed results. The Force Bill, which would give Lincoln unprecedented powers if there was a Civil War, was stridently opposed by Congressman A. R. Boteler of Virginia.



Representative A. R. Boteler, Virginia

It served to deepen the impression that Mr. Lincoln was a kind hearted man, that he was… by no means disposed to interfere, directly or indirectly, with the institutions of slavery in any of the states, or to yield to the clamorous demand of those bloody-minded extremists, who were then so very keen to cry “havoc” and “let slip the dogs of war.”

The president persisted with the Virginia politicians. On April 4, he asked Summers to send a representative of the state legislature to the White House for a peace conference. Summers sent John Baldwin.



John Baldwin

Mr. Lincoln received me very cordially, and said he desired to have some private conversation with me. He started through to a back room, opening into another room, but we found two gentlemen there engaged in writing, he seemed to think that would not do and we passed across the hall into a small room opposite. And through that into a large front room. He had locked the door and… drew up two chairs and asked me to take a seat.

Lincoln reiterated his offer to evacuate Sumter if Virginia remained in the Union.



John Baldwin

That will never do under heaven… Mr. President, I did not come here to argue with you…. I tell you before God and man that if there is a gun fired at Sumter, war is inevitable.

As early as March 21, some Southern leaders were telling friends that there would be a war.



William Browne, future Confederate Secretary of State

I am still confident we shall have a collision.



Judah Benjamin, future Confederate Secretary of the Treasury

We have almost certain intelligence of an intention to reinforce Fort Pickens [in Florida], and that is of course war, and must be treated by us at all hazards.

Seward then sent Lincoln an astounding note.



William Seward, to Abraham Lincoln

What do you think of George Summers for Justice of the Supreme Court?



Abraham Lincoln, to William Seward

No!

From the start, there were squabbles in the Cabinet over Fort Sumter and Seward.



Gideon Welles

Mr. Seward, who from the first had viewed with no favor any attempt to relieve Sumter, soon became a very decisive and emphatic opponent of any proposition that was made; said he had entertained doubts and the opinions and arguments of Major Anderson and his officers, confirmed by the distinguished military officers who were consulted had fully convinced him that it would be abortive and useless.

The President, though much distressed with the conclusions of the military officers, and the decisive concurrence of the Secretary of State in those conclusions, appeared to acquiesce in what seemed to be a military necessity but was not disposed to yield until the last moment.



Edward Bates

[Welles’s] earnestness and indignation aroused and electrified the President that the abandonment of Sumter would be justly considered by the people, by the world, by history, as treason.

It annoyed many members of the Cabinet that the President held Seward, his Secretary of State, in such high regard. Lincoln thought Seward an experienced lawmaker, popular with the people, and so did not want to offend him. An example of this popularity was displayed in the recent presidential campaign. When Seward arrived in Chicago to give a speech for Lincoln, a long parade formed for his carriage that was attended by tens of thousands, and soon the crowd surged across the street, halting Seward’s travel.



Reporter, Chicago Daily Democrat

It was only after a severe struggle that the police were finally able to clear a passage for Gov. Seward, accompanied by General Nye and Mayor Wentworth, for the carriage to the hotel entrance…. The vast assemblage broke into a shout of welcome, which echoed like the voice of many waters through the streets.

Seward’s campaign tour for Lincoln became legendary. He began in Michigan and the welcome received there was matched elsewhere.



Michigan reporter

[He was greeted with] cannons, brass bands, and processions of torch bearing “Wide Awakes” (young Lincoln supporters)…. They created a circus atmosphere at Republican rallies, surrounding the perimeters of crowds and marching in meandering, illuminated processions.

Charles Francis Adams Jr., grandson of President John Quincy Adams, accompanied Seward on the tour and admired the way the parades were set up, with bands, marchers, and carriages carrying candidates for every office, and then Seward in his carriage.



Charles Francis Adams Jr.

All of this reminded me of a menagerie where each of the beasts, beginning with the lion, is passed in review before a gaping crowd.

Seward’s speeches were not only memorable, but each, in every city, was different—unlike the standard stump speeches of the day. The mercurial Seward thrived on the noise of the crowd and appeared at home.



Charles Francis Adams Jr.

The early morning sun shone on Seward, wrapped in a strange and indescribable Syrian cashmere cloak, and my humble self, puffing on our morning cigars.

Seward, in fact, never appeared so well as at home. He walked the streets exchanging greetings with everyone. [He created] an impression of individuality approaching greatness.



Reporter, Chicago Press and Tribune

[Seward’s arrival was] a day ever memorable in the political history of our state… [streets] alive with people, the pioneer, the back woodsman, the trapper, the hunter, the trader from the Red River.

Eyewitnesses to the parades wrote laudatory letters to Seward’s wife, Frances.



Richard Blatchford, friend of the Sewards

I am sure you must be most happy. He has shown throughout a depth of power, eloquence and resonance of thought and mind, which we here who know him so well, are not a little taken aback by.

After Lincoln’s election, the London journalist who found the president so ugly saw Seward as an American king.



William Russell, London Times

A subtle, quick man, rejoicing in power… fond of badinage, bursting with the importance of state mysteries.

Seward was acting like he, and not Lincoln, had been elected President. He seemed to be everywhere in the White House, shaking hands with all, and gave rousing speeches to visiting state delegations, such as Lincoln’s home state of Illinois.



William Seward, to the Illinois Delegation

I implore you to remember that the battle for freedom has been fought and won. Henceforth, forget that freedom was ever in danger and exert your best influence now to save the Union.



Despite Seward’s insistence on evacuating Fort Sumter, the other Cabinet members continued this discussion with the president.

Salmon Chase, Secretary of the Treasury

The attempt to provision is to include an attempt to reinforce for it seems to be generally agreed that provisioning without reinforcements notwithstanding hostile resistance, will accomplish no beneficial purpose. If the attempt will so inflame civil war as to involve an immediate necessity for the enlistment of armies, I cannot advise it….



Simon Cameron, Secretary of War

It would be unwise now to make such an attempt…. I am greatly influenced by the opinions of the army officers who have expressed themselves on the subject and who seem to concur that it is perhaps now impossible to [help] the fort substantially if at all.



Montgomery Blair, Postmaster General

[I am] in favor of provisioning that fort. To the connivance of the late administration it is due alone that this rebellion has been enabled to attain the present proportions. We must look to the people in these states for the overthrow of the rebellion, [but] I am willing to evacuate Fort Sumter rather than be an active party in the beginning of civil war.

Blair, who spoke slowly and cautiously, was a man who always made his presence known in a room. One reason Lincoln admired him was that Blair was one of the lawyers who represented Dred Scott and his wife before the Supreme Court. In that landmark 1857 case, the court ruled that no one of African ancestry could claim American citizenship. Blair told friends that the Army and Navy were split.



Montgomery Blair

The army officers think destruction almost inevitable where the Navy officers think the danger but slight…. They think the greatest danger will be in landing at Sumter.

[Giving up] Sumter strengthens their [the rebels’] hand at home and their claim to recognition as an independent people abroad…. It [resupply] will in any event indicate the hearty courage of the North and the determination of the people and their President to maintain the authority of the government.

Fortunately, Lincoln’s legendary mental depression had not set in that first week of his administration, as many had expected, and many thanked his wife, Mary, for that.



Lincoln friend

She was the only one who had the skill and tact to shorten their duration.

Ward Lamon, a huge man who had served as Lincoln’s bodyguard, was another friend for peace who was worried. He expressed his concern to a Southerner.



Ward Lamon

Our countries not being at war and wishing as far as it lies in my power to avoid the latter calamity, no such condition will be expected of you unless brought about as the natural result of hostilities.

One thing Lincoln did not want to do was make the Union the aggressor in any confrontation over Fort Sumter. Illinois politician Orville Browning was among his many friends who agreed.



Orville Browning

In any conflict which may ensue between the government and the seceding states, it is very important that the traitors shall be the aggressors and that they be kept constantly and palpably in the wrong.

Attorney General Bates did not see the Cabinet secretaries as a united advisory board, and was very worried about the disagreements.



Edward Bates

There is no quarrel among us but an absolute want of continuity of intelligence, purpose and action. In truth, it is not an administration but the separate and disjointed action of seven independent officers, each one ignorant of what his colleagues are doing…. The President is an excellent man and in the main is wise, but he lacks will and purpose and I generally fear he has not the power to command.

The press was fed up with cabinet feuds.



Reporter, New York Herald

The Cabinet will not hold together two months.



By March of 1861, Fort Sumter had become a national issue. Many Republicans did want to give the South anything, much less a valuable fort. The day after Lincoln’s first Cabinet meeting on Sumter, the New York Herald weighed in.

Reporter, New York Herald

The gloom and mortification of Republican politicians at the humiliation involved in the impending withdrawal of Major Anderson is indescribable.

Northerners sensed that Fort Sumter was a problem, but few understood the full ramifications of what might or might not happen there. One New York newspaper editor did, though.



Editor, New York Illustrated News

While we do accept… the alarm that this movement [secession] is calculated to generate, we cannot overlook the fact that immense mischief may too soon ensue to the commercial interests of the whole country. The South is unquestionably in a fever of indignation be the cause well founded or not. The North looks complacently on the calmness deep felt or not. That we have reached a crisis in our country’s history there is no need of assurance from any political sage… [over] the vested interests of the South in the peculiar institution [slavery] which [it] is bound to protect in all its forms.

It was a dangerous time in Washington, D.C.



Gideon Welles

A strange state of things existed at that time in Washington. The atmosphere was thick with treason. Party spirit and old party differences prevailed, however, amid accumulating dangers. Secession was considered by most persons as a political party question and not as rebellion. The Democrats, to a large extent. sympathized with the Rebels more than with the administration, which they opposed…. They hoped that President Lincoln and the Republicans would be overwhelmed by obstacles and embarrassments… [and] prove failures. The Republicans, on the other hand, were scarcely less partisan and unreasonable…. Neither party [realized] the gathering storm. There was a general belief, indulged in by most persons, that adjustment would in some way be brought without an extensive resort to extreme measures.

It seemed probable that there might be some outbreak in South Carolina, and perhaps, in one or two other places, but such would, it was believed, be soon and easily suppressed…. [Southern] threats [were] considered as the harmless bulletins of excited demagogues.

Despite its disagreements, the Lincoln Cabinet would last almost completely intact for the entire war and be very successful. Lincoln mastered all of them in subtle ways; he was not worried.

When the Fort Sumter crisis began, one of the president’s secretaries, awed by the fame, reputations, and power of his fellow Cabinet members, said to Lincoln, “They’ll eat you up.” Lincoln smiled at him and replied, “They’ll eat each other up.”



Abraham Lincoln

I must myself be the judge how long to retain, and when to remove, any of you from his position. It would greatly pain me to discover any of you endeavoring to procure another’s removal or in any way to prejudice before the public. Such endeavor would be a wrong to the country. My wish is that on this subject no remark be made, or question asked, by any of you, here or elsewhere, now or hereafter.

Lincoln wanted the members of his Cabinet to help him become a good president. The political ambition that always burned in him, he transformed into a burning desire to be a successful chief executive. And Lincoln had always been ambitious. His skill was to mask that ambition from all. By 1832 he had already mastered that. Back then, when he was asked about his personal ambition, he shrugged.



Abraham Lincoln

Every man is said to have his peculiar ambition. Whether it be true or not, I can say for one that I have no other so great as that of being truly esteemed of my fellow men, by rendering myself worthy of their esteem. How far I should succeed in gratifying this ambition is yet to be developed. I am young and unknown to many of you. I was born and have ever remained in the most humble walks of life.

Lincoln’s former law partner in Illinois, Billy Herndon, knew better.



Billy Herndon

In Abraham Lincoln, ambition burns like a little engine that knows no rest.

Lincoln grew up in an era between the Revolution and the Civil War, an era when the nation was moving westward. The population was exploding and the development of the railroad moved millions of people much faster. It was an era when more people had opportunity—and took it.



Alexis de Toqueville, French philosopher who traveled throughout the United States

When both the privileges and the disqualification of class have been abolished and men have shattered the bonds which once held them immobile, the idea of progress comes naturally into each man’s mind; the desire to rise swells in every heart at once, and all men want to quit their former special position. Ambition becomes a universal feeling.



There was much talk that if there was a war, the conflict would be fought in the North, not the South.

Editor, Detroit Free Press

That war will be fought at the North.



Editor, Chicago Tribune, to Illinois Senator Lyman Trumbull

I believe upon my soul that if the Union is divided on the line of the Ohio, we shall be compelled to struggle to maintain the territorial integrity of the state.

Samuel Medary, publisher of the Columbus, Ohio, Crisis, agreed and feared that the Northern half of the nation would be destroyed.



Samuel Medary

Cincinnati will be converted into a camp of soldiers instead of a busy mart of peace and prosperous commerce. With the Ohio River only dividing her from a hostile foe, she will be exposed to the shell and the ball from the overlooking hills beyond. Fear and absolute safety would compel others to remove to a more distant point and give the city to camp life and all the ills that follow. And for what are we to be driven to this desolate condition? Can any one answer?

Most believed that a Civil War, regardless of where it was fought, would destroy the country.



Editor, New York Express

If the people of one section madly propose to itself the task of trying to whip the other, the hope of reconciliation is extinguished forever…. There is a chance that fraternal relations, though temporarily ruptured, may one day be restored, if peace [now] is preserved.

Many Southerners sneered at Northern hopes for peace. One was William Tecumseh Sherman, the recently retired superintendent of the Louisiana Seminary of Learning and Military Academy [later Louisiana State University] and a former soldier—a man who would later become one of Lincoln’s top generals. He thought Lincoln did not understand Southern anger at all. He met the president in the White House just after the inauguration, along with his younger brother John, a Congressman from Ohio. Lincoln asked them how Southerners were “getting along.”



William Tecumseh Sherman

They are getting along swimmingly—they are preparing for war.

Sherman was upset with Lincoln after he left the White House meeting.



William Tecumseh Sherman

You have got things in a hell of a fix and you may get them out as you best can…. The country is sleeping on a volcano that might burst at any minute.

Sherman wrote to his brother a few days later.



William Tecumseh Sherman

Lincoln has an awful task, and if he succeeds in avoiding strife and allaying fears he will be entitled to the admiration of the world; but a time has occurred in all governments, and has occurred in this, when force must back the laws and the longer the postponement, the more severe must be the application.

Ironically, the former military man had visited Charleston several times as a young soldier and was unimpressed with Sumter and Fort Moultrie. In 1846 he wrote about them.



William Tecumseh Sherman

There would be no difficulty in taking Charleston—our fort [Moultrie] is weak and has only about 100 men—it is not ditched or strengthened in such a way as to defy an assault. A new fort is being built in the channel [Sumter] which, when done, will be very strong, but its walls are yet hardly out of the water.

Sherman was spoiling for a fight that day at the White House, if war came. He had always been ready to go to war. Back in 1846, he was so despondent at the lack of action he saw in the Army that he wrote to his bosses asking them to put him in the line of fire.



William Tecumseh Sherman

[I felt] compelled by a feeling of shame at leading so quiet a life while my comrades were at war. I wrote to the Adjutant General, requesting him to order me upon any expedition—the more hazardous the more to my liking. [It will be dangerous] but I trust to fortune.






TWO The Coming Storm


Lincoln did not think a crisis over Fort Sumter, and the smaller but similar problem of Fort Pickens in Pensacola, Florida, would come this early in his presidency. It seemed that everybody, North and South, wanted the new president to do something, and wanted members of his Cabinet to do something, too.

Charleston Mercury

The bewilderment of the Lincoln administration is not lessened today. The outside pressure both for and against… a war policy is tremendous. Meantime, it is said that the Southerner Commissioners, like other people, are getting heartily sick of Seward’s do-nothing tactics.

However, the United States president-elect had a sense of foreboding about secession and slavery from the moment he departed Springfield, Illinois, his hometown, for the journey to Washington, D.C. He spoke of it to an early morning gathering of his neighbors and friends who came to see him off at the train station.



Abraham Lincoln

I now leave not knowing when or ever I may return with a task before me greater than that which rested upon Washington. Without the assistance of that Divine being who ever attended him, I cannot succeed. With that assistance, I cannot fail. Trusting in him who can go with me, and remain with you and be everywhere for good, let me confidently hope that all will yet be well. To his care commending you, as I hope in your prayers you will commend me, I bid you an affectionate farewell.



Illinois Journal

Full of simple and touching eloquence, so exactly adapted to the occasion, so worthy of the man and the hour. Although it was raining fast when he began to speak, every hat was lifted and every head bent forward to catch the last words of the departing chief. When he said, with the earnestness of a sudden inspiration of feeling that “with God’s help he should not fail,” there was an incontrollable burst of applause….

At precisely eight o’clock, city time, the train moved off, bearing our honored townsman, our noble chief Abraham Lincoln, to the scenes of his future labors and, as we firmly believe, of his glorious triumph. God bless honest Abraham Lincoln.

The president-elect stayed overnight at the Bates House hotel in Indianapolis. There, a crowd pressed him for a few words. He walked out onto the balcony to loud applause. In his remarks, he said of secessionists:



Abraham Lincoln

When men wrangle by the mouth with no certainty that they mean the same thing while using the same words, it perhaps would be as well if they would keep silence.

The Republican press applauded this speech, but the Democratic press hated it.



Editor, Baltimore Sun

He is a clown.



Cincinnati Daily Enquirer

Old Abe is a failure as a President. By the time he gets through his tour, his friends will wish they had boxed him up and sent him home.

There were mixed feelings about Fort Sumter and a Civil War in the various towns the president-elect stopped at on his railroad journey to the nation’s capital for his inauguration. The Fort Sumter crisis heated up as Lincoln headed east. One Cincinnati reporter spoke to a South Carolina newspaper about Lincoln’s visit to Ohio.



Charleston Mercury

I do not think that many battalions from this state, however, are likely to volunteer to make a “foray upon the South” in carrying out the “irrepressible conflict.” They will prefer to stay at home, as Old Kentucky may have something to say about such a demonstration.

When Lincoln’s train stopped in Columbus, Ohio, he assured the crowd that despite all the secession hoopla, no harm had come to anyone.



Abraham Lincoln

I have not maintained silence [on issues] from any want of real anxiety. It is a good thing that there is no more than anxiety, for there is nothing going wrong. It is a consoling circumstance that when we look out there is nothing that really hurts anybody.

Despite the rising concerns and the opinions of the Democratic press, Lincoln’s train trip was a triumph. One paper described the reaction when he reached Dunkirk, New York.



New York World

The arches of the depot echoed and re-echoed with the ring of countless cheers. Men swung their hats wildly, women waved their handkerchiefs and, as the train moved on, the crowd, animated by a common impulse, followed as if they intended to keep it company to the next station. It is impossible to describe the applause and acclamation.

At Dunkirk, Lincoln met a man as tall as he—always an oddity considering Lincoln’s height—and kept measuring himself against the other man, something he had done, and would do, all of his life.

When the train stopped at the town of Girard, Pennsylvania, standing on the platform, surprisingly, was Republican Party leader Horace Greeley, editor of the nation’s largest newspaper, the New York Tribune. The eccentric Greeley would unsuccessfully run for president in 1872. Clad in his signature long white coat and carrying a duffel bag with his name printed on it in huge yellow letters, Greeley thought the Lincoln train was the regular train he wanted to catch and was mystified.

New York World

[Greeley] at first made an incursion into the reporters’ car, where he was captured, and marched in triumph by Mr. Secretary Nicolay to the President’s car. Here he was introduced for the first time to Mrs. Lincoln. At the next stopping place, Greeley suddenly disappeared. His arrival and departure were altogether so unexpected, so mysterious, so comical, that they supplied an amusing topic of conversation during the rest of the journey.

Lincoln made many speeches along the route. He told members of the Pennsylvania Assembly, in very careful language, that any possible war would not be his doing.



Abraham Lincoln

I promise that in so far as I may have wisdom to direct, that if so painful a result [bloodshed] shall in any way be brought about, it shall be through no fault of mine.

He had told a crowd in Indianapolis the same thing, aiming his remarks at Southerners.



Abraham Lincoln

The maintenance of this government is your business and not mine. I wish you to remember, now and forever, that if the Union of these states and the liberties of this people shall be lost it is but little to any one man of fifty-two years of age but a great deal to the thirty millions of people who inhabit these United States and to their prosperity in all coming time. It is your business to rise up and preserve the Union and liberty for yourselves, and not for me.

Lincoln did fear trouble of some kind and was, he told the people, ready for it. He told the New Jersey General Assembly about possible problems over Sumter and slavery. After vocally whipping his crowd into a frenzy, he stunned them when he lamented that, because of the Fort Sumter crisis, he might be the last president of the United States.



Abraham Lincoln

The man does not live who is more devoted to peace than I am. None who would do more to preserve it. But it may be necessary to put the foot down firmly. And if I do my duty, and do right, you will sustain me, will you not? Received as I am by the members of a legislature the majority of whom do not agree with me in political sentiments, I trust that I may have their assistance in piloting the ship of state in this voyage surrounded by perils as it is; for, if it should suffer attack now, there will be no pilot ever needed for another voyage.

When his train stopped in Pittsburgh, Lincoln told the crowd that they had to keep calm about the nation and Sumter.



Abraham Lincoln

There is really no crisis except an artificial one…. If the great American people will only keep their temper, on both sides of the line, the troubles will come to an end.

On a speaking stop at Independence Hall in Philadelphia on George Washington’s birthday, he repeated that message.



Abraham Lincoln

If this country cannot be saved without giving up that principle [slavery]—I was about to say I would rather be assassinated on this spot than to surrender it. Now, in my view of the present aspect of affairs, there is no need of bloodshed and war. There is no necessity for it. I am not in favor of such a course, and I may say in advance, there will be no blood shed unless it be forced upon the Government.

Later, his train stopped at tiny Westfield, New York. Lincoln had received a letter from a little girl, Grace Bedell, who lived there, in which she suggested he grow “whiskers” and that they would make him look better. He did, on her suggestion. He probably thought the beard would make him look older and wiser and perhaps cover up some of the ungainliness of his face. The little girl went up to the train platform to meet a smiling Lincoln, who gently kissed her on the cheek. The encounter became part of American lore.



Abraham Lincoln

You see, I let these whiskers grow for you, Grace.

Detective Alan J. Pinkerton and a personal friend, Ward Lamon, accompanied Lincoln on his railroad trip because death threats had been made against the president-elect. They kept an eye on his visitors and the crowds. In Baltimore, Pinkerton heard of a credible assassination plot against Lincoln and secretly ushered him off the train, in disguise, and sneaked him into Washington unnoticed on another train.



New York Tribune

It is the only instance recorded in history in which the recognized head of a nation—head whether by choice or inheritance—has been compelled, for fear of his life, to enter the capital in disguise. Tyrants have fled from palaces under false names and assumed characters when the exasperated people have compelled them to abdicate their thrones, dethroned monarchs have escaped in the garb of common men, at the approach of a foreign enemy pretenders to royal seats to which they had no right have sought from secret hiding places and with feigned names and purposes to rally the discontented into open rebellion, but never before among civilized people has a king or President been reduced by the circumstances of the times to such an extremity for protection…. One section of this country [the South] is only semi-civilized.

The talk about Lincoln’s assassination, and the Baltimore plot, alarmed Pinkerton, in whose care Lincoln had placed himself. He thought the hatred of Southerners for Lincoln could push some to go too far.



Alan Pinkerton

The proposed plan to get rid of Mr. Lincoln, whatever it was, and of whatever expense of the lives of others, even of women and children, are merely new developments of Southern and slaveholder barbarism. The only way that innate ruffians can meet the new contingencies of the moment. And these will be followed by acts with uncertain results, unless, in the meantime, the supremacy of the law shall be asserted in obedience to Northern civilization and by other means than persuasive words.

Lincoln remained nervous, as his former law partner recounted.



Billy Herndon

During the anxious moments that intervened between the general election and the assembling of the legislature, he slept, like Napoleon, with one eye open.

In fact, just after his election as president, Lincoln had expressed his fear of assassination to Herndon.



Abraham Lincoln

If I live, I’m coming back [to Springfield] sometime and then we’ll go right on practicing law as if nothing had ever happened.

Despite the threats, no one was happier to see Lincoln in the White House, despite the simmering Fort Sumter issue, than his wife, Mary, who had pushed him considerably in his political career. John Stuart, a law partner and friend of the Lincolns, once described Mary this way.



John Stuart

She had the fire, will and ambition.

Mary Lincoln wrote to a friend who had married an older, wealthy husband:



Mary Lincoln

I would rather marry a good man, a man of mind, with a hope and bright prospects ahead for position—fame and power—than to marry all the houses of gold and bones in the world.

One man who was surprised to see Lincoln take the oath of office was his old Springfield friend and rival, Senator Stephen Douglas, long expected to be president someday by just about everybody. It was Douglas who, in 1854, sponsored the Kansas–Nebraska Act, which permitted residents of territories to determine whether they wanted slavery—an issue that led to the Fort Sumter crisis. Lincoln himself thought that Douglas, not he, would become president.
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